Wife, Widow and Terrorist: A Feminist Critical Discourse

Analysis of the Framing of Women Who Undertake a Dual Role

in Terrorism in the British News Media

This dissertation is submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the award of the degree of BSc in Politics and International Relations with Study Abroad

I declare that the research contained herein was granted approval by the SPAIS Ethics

Working Group

Student Number: 2042318

Unit: POLI3155

Supervisor: Dr. Elena Stavrevska

Academic Year: 2024-25

Acknowledgements:

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Elena Stavrevska, for her guidance to assist me in this process. I am extremely grateful for her dedication and commitment in shaping my work.

Dedications:

This dissertation is dedicated to my Mum and Dad who put up with so many phone calls, thank you for listening, helping and just being there when I needed it.

I would also like to my friends for their support in this process, the many cups of tea they made and countless conversations about women terrorists they listened to.

Abstract:

Despite the growing involvement of women in terrorist organisations, there is a widespread acknowledgement that terrorism is experienced differently by women. News media representation has been acknowledged as a notable aspect of gendered difference; previous research has identified that women are disproportionately represented in news media representations of terrorism. Recognising the gender-bias of news media, this dissertation investigates the portrayal of women undertaking a dual role in the British news media. The notion of a dual role in terrorism, whereby women are expected to both 'fight and foster' (Gan et al., 2019, p.216), is an unexplored area of news media representations of women terrorists. To study news media framings of women undertaking a dual role in terrorism, this study employs a feminist critical discourse analysis. The analysis selected two cases studies of prominent British women who are depicted as having a dual role: Samantha Lewthwaite and the Bethnal Green trio (Shamima Begum, Amira Abase and Kadiza Sultana). Using news media articles from The Guardian and The Times, the study interrogates the portrayal of agency and subjectivity in the news media representations of these women. The analysis revealed a gendered framing of the news media articles, demonstrating the reproduction of gender stereotypes and gendered power hierarchies in news media portrayals of the women. Through the frame, the news media articles were found to consistently deny the agency of women undertaking a dual role in terrorism. Moreover, the analysis identified the deployment of discourses of gendered subjectivity to construct women as subordinate, non-subjects throughout news media portrayals. Taken together, the dissertation contends that the consistent use of gendered subjectivity enabled the systemic subversion of the women's agency in undertaking a dual role in terrorism.

Word Count: 9999

Contents Page:

Acknowledgements:	2
Dedications:	3
Abstract and Word Count:	4
Contents Page:	5
List of Abbreviations:	6
1. Introduction:	7
1.1 Methodology and Structure:	9
2. Literature Review:	12
2.1 Gender and Terrorism:	12
2.1b Victimisation or Vilification:	14
2.2 Media, Terrorism and the Portrayal of Women Terrorists:	15
3. Analytical Framework:	18
3.1 Agency:	18
3.1b An Intersectional Approach to Agency:	21
3.2 Subjectivity:	22
4. Gendered Framing:	25
5. Agency:	28
5.1a The Prospect of Marriage:	28
5.1b Maternal Failure:	30
5.2 Passivity in Radicalisation:	32
5.3 Whiteness:	34
6. Subjectivity:	36
6.1a Schoolgirls:	36
6.1b Widow, Daughter, Bride:	37
7. Conclusion:	41
Bibliography:	43
Annendices - News Media Data Set:	51

<u>List of Abbreviations:</u>

CDA – Critical Discourse Analysis

FCDA – Feminist Critical Discourse Analysis

ISIS – the Islamic State

1. Introduction:

The involvement of women in terrorism is well established, with estimates suggesting that women constitute between 10 and 15 percent of a terrorist organisation's membership (CTED, 2019, p.6). In June 2021, 13% of foreign terrorist fighters were identified to be women (COEDAT, 2021, p.30). The significant percentage of women emigrating for the terrorist cause illustrates a manifest dedication and ideological commitment to terrorism amongst women. Accordingly, the availability of data confirming women's participation substantiates the necessity of studying women within the terrorist space. Addressing gender has begun with the recognition that terrorism is experienced differently by women and men (Phelan, 2020, p.360; Banks, 2019). This understanding has established the need to further incorporate a gender-sensitive analysis in the study of terrorism (Phelan, 2020, p.353).

Previous research has identified news media representations of terrorism as a particular aspect of gendered difference (Krona and Caskey, 2023; Nacos, 2005). For instance, Bloom (2007, p.100) asserts that attacks perpetrated by women generate eight times the amount of media coverage than attacks by men. Evidently, women are disproportionately represented in the news media, facing greater scrutiny for their involvement in terrorism. Understanding that the news media representation of terrorism is not neutral, this study sought to investigate how the British news media portrays women who undertake a dual role in terrorism. In the study, a dual role refers to the simultaneous performance of both domestic roles and active roles within terrorist organisations. Specifically, this dissertation considers the dual role in the context of jihadi terrorist movements, where traditional roles have restricted women to the domestic sphere. In the Islamic State (ISIS), bearing children is considered the most significant contribution that women can possibly offer (Termeer and Duyvesteyn, 2022, p.476), indicating a supportive role that conforms to traditional gender norms. On the other hand, research has suggested that

women do not only hold supportive roles, but are active fighters (Fullmer, Lipson Mizrahi, and Tomsich 2019; Spencer, 2016; Bloom, 2007). There is evidence that jihadist organisations have increasingly enlisted women as plotters, propagandists and attackers (Termeer and Duyvesteyn, 2022, p.463), signalling women's engagement in acts of terrorism. However, unlike their male counterparts, it is expected that jihadi women fighters remain compelled to raise their children (Gan et al., 2019, p.216). With such an expectation, many women thus perform a dual role within terrorist organisations.

In respect to the research question, two case studies were selected for analysis: Samantha Lewthwaite and the Bethnal Green trio. These cases were chosen as specific examples of prominent British women who are depicted as having undertaken a dual role in terrorism. Samantha Lewthwaite first appeared in the media as the widow of 7/7 bomber Jermaine Lindsay and has since been linked to Al-Shabaab (Auer, Sutcliffe and Lee 2018, p.282). Reports suggest that Lewthwaite has three or four children (BBC, 2013). In 2013, Interpol issued a red notice for her arrest for possessing explosives and conspiring to commit a felony (Interpol, 2025). Shamima Begum, Amira Abase and Kadiza Sultana, colloquially named the 'Bethnal Green trio', travelled to the Syria to join ISIS in February 2015 (Jackson, 2021, p.412). After their arrival, it was reported that the trio had married men in the organisation (Dodd, 2016). Analysing the British news media framing of the two case studies revealed that news media framing reproduced gender stereotypes and gendered hierarchies of power in the portrayal of women undertaking a dual role in terrorism. With this recognition, this dissertation argues that there is a systemic subversion of agency in the portrayal of women undertaking a dual role in terrorism in the news media.

1.1 Methodology and Structure:

This research conducts a feminist critical discourse analysis (FCDA) of news media articles to examine the portrayal of women terrorists undertaking a dual role in terrorism. For Jackson (2019, p.1734), terrorism should be analysed in the realm of discourse as a terrorist act is constituted through the language and practices that interpret it, demonstrating that discourse analysis is a suitable method for this dissertation. Understanding language as an irreducible part of all aspects of social life (Fairclough, 2003, p.2), critical discourse analysis (CDA) aims to both expose and criticise the connections between properties of texts and power relations (Fairclough, 1995, p.97). In this regard, van Dijk (2015, p.469) considers power to be central in CDA. Specifically, CDA studies how 'discourse structures enact, confirm, legitimate, reproduce, or challenge relations of power abuse (dominance) in society' (van Dijk, 2015, p.467). Essentially, CDA offers an exploration of the interaction of unequal structures of power in discourse. Extending this work, Lazar (2007, 2017) proposes FCDA to apply feminist theory to these analyses. From a feminist perspective, relations of power are fundamentally gendered. Critically, FCDA seeks to understand the complex workings of power in discourse that sustain hierarchical gendered social practices (Lazar, 2007, p.141). As such, FCDA enables an interrogation of the reproduction of unequal gendered relations of power in discourse structures. In this sense, FCDA directly aims to expose the entrenchment of gendered power hierarchies through discourse. Thus, a FCDA approach is necessary to examine how gendered power structures are reproduced and reinforced in the portrayal of women terrorists undertaking a dual role in terrorism in the British news media.

To conduct the analysis, news media articles representing Samantha Lewthwaite and the Bethnal Green trio were examined. As an ethical consideration, any children mentioned in relation to these women have been anonymised to not extent harm. For the basis of data

collection, news media articles were selected from two online UK news outlets, The Guardian and The Times. The decision to draw articles from two news media outlets controlled for comparability within outlets over time, accounting for editorial coherence despite specific editor changes. Based on previous electoral endorsements, the online edition of *The Guardian* is judged to have a leftist political leaning, whilst *The Times* is considered right leaning (Ponsford, 2024). Thus, in terms of political stance, the outlets selected represent either side of the British political spectrum, permitting a broad analysis of how the news media portrays women who undertake a dual role in terrorism. Articles were taken from a decade period from 2008 to 2018, primarily to restrict the dataset from interferences owing to the re-emergence of Shamima Begum in headlines since 2019, when her UK citizenship was stripped for national security reasons (BBC, 2024). To gather the sample, each outlet's website was directly accessed. These online databases were searched with the following key words: 'Samantha Lewthwaite', 'Bethnal Green trio', 'Shamima Begum', 'Amira Abase' and 'Kadiza Sultana'. Initially searches generated many results as the case studies were frequently footnoted within the wider topic of terrorism. As such, articles were screened for relevancy so that only articles portraying the women and their actions directly were included. The final data set comprised of eighty news articles.

Following this introduction, Chapter Two situates this research within the existing literature on women in terror and news media representations of terrorism. Chapter Three outlines the analytical framework adopted in this study, conceptualising agency and subjectivity. Chapter Four contextualises the analysis, demonstrating the overarching gendered framing of the news articles. Recognising this, Chapter Five discusses the portrayal of agency in the news articles, leading to Chapter Six which discusses the reproduction of gendered hierarchies of power within discourses of gendered subjectivity in the news media representations of the women.

Together, both the chapters demonstrate the systemic subversion of agency in news media portrayals of women undertaking a dual role in terrorism.

2. Literature Review:

This chapter reviews the existing literature in the field of gender and terrorism, contextualising my study within scholarship that has investigated the roles that women hold in terrorist organisations. Additionally, the chapter situates this dissertation within the relevant literature regarding the relationship between the media and terrorism, focusing on the gendered narratives that are deployed in media portrayals of terrorism.

2.1 Gender and Terrorism:

The existing scholarship has predominately analysed the specific roles undertaken by women in terrorism (Bigio and Vogelstein, 2019; Spencer, 2016). Bloom (2007, p.94) notes the historical involvement of women in political violence in a supportive manner, primarily expected to sustain insurgencies by giving birth and raising future fighters. The literature confirms that this expectation has persisted in contemporary terrorist groups; Spencer (2016, p.81) identifies the belief within the Islamic State (ISIS) that women exist solely to serve men as wives and birth the next generation of jihadi. Furthermore, in an analysis of ISIS recruitment propaganda, Termeer and Duyvesteyn (2022, p.476) found that appeals to nurturing roles significantly contributed to the recruitment of women, indicating that the role of women as mothers and wives is accepted to such an extent that it is manipulated in the recruitment techniques of terrorist organisations.

A considerable amount of literature has begun to identify a change to the roles undertaken by women in terrorism (Gan et al. 2019; Termeer and Duyvesteyn, 2022, p.477; Bloom and Lokmanoglu, 2020). It is reported that women are becoming key players in terrorist organisations (Bloom and Lokmanoglu, 2020, p.408). Analysing the roles held by women in ISIS, Spencer (2016, p.97) concludes that women's participation is evolving. Gan et al.'s

(2019) examination of the distinct shift of the roles of women in ISIS is pertinent; Gan et al. (2019, p.209) observed that women continue to perform traditional roles as mothers and wives but have increasingly adopted more active roles in the organisation, including recruitment and perpetrating violence as suicide bombers. Evidence of this shift of women from the domestic realm to the frontline is manifest. In a sample of terror attacks perpetrated between 2005 and 2016, 15% were perpetrated by women (Fullmer, Lipson Mizrahi, and Tomsich, 2019, p.274). Corroborating the change from traditional roles, Spencer (2016, p.90) proves that ideological supportive roles like recruitment supersedes the role of a jihadist wife for women in ISIS. Evidently, numerous studies within the existing literature reveal an evolving role of women in terrorist organisations.

However, these studies tend to assume that women hold one role or another, it is never suggested nor explored that women could be performing both. Postulating that more active jihadi women would remain expected to care for their children, Gan et al. (2019, p.216) conclude that their findings suggest a possible dual nature in the role that women play, whereby women both fight and foster. Other than this concluding remark, the notion of a dual role undertaken by women in terrorism remains to be addressed in the literature. Given that there is scant research on women who simultaneously perform traditional domestic roles and active roles like recruiting or perpetrating violence, my research aims to overcome this omittance by selecting case-studies of women who undertake this dual role. Analysing the media framing of women undertaking a dual role aims to further understandings of gender-specific experiences in the sphere of terrorism and how these roles are specifically portrayed in the news media.

2.1b Victimisation or Vilification:

Despite the literature confirming changes in the roles held by women in terrorism, the existing scholarship tends to represent women as victims of male-instigated violence (Spencer, 2016, p.76). Bloom and Lokmanoglu (2020, p.400) problematise analyses of women's roles in terrorist organisations for the use of stereotypes to frame women along a spectrum as either a pawn or a victim. Acknowledging this spectrum suggests that even in assuming an active role, scholars consider women to remain manipulated. Moreover, Sjoberg, Cooke and Reiter Neal (2011, p.5) highlight the tendency to dismiss women terrorists, whereby a commitment to terrorism is explained through an impression that something bad happened to the woman. In these understandings, a woman is understood to have turned to terrorist violence because she was abused or raped. As such, the literature suggests an overwhelming tendency in terrorism studies to understand women terrorists in terms of victimisation.

For Banks (2019, p.182), explanations of the motivation behind terror acts demonstrate a fundamental gender difference. Motivation is rarely considered for male terrorists as their dedication to the cause is assumed; for women this assumption is withheld as they are viewed as victims of violence rather than perpetrators (ibid.). The differing explanations of men's and women's participation in terrorism indicate the existence of a gendered victim-perpetrator binary which has restricted women to considerations as victims. As women directly perpetrating terrorism disrupt the binary, scholars tend to explain women's motivations to restore the idea that women are victims. The existing scholarship confirms the existence of the binary; Jackson (2021, p.414) contends that politically violent women are cast either as vulnerable and helpless or as monstrous villains. Bloom (2011, p.4) affirms that women involved in terrorist violence are demonised more than men, implying a distinct vilification of women. When women do not conform with this binary, the literature shows that they're treated

separately. In their seminal book on women's violence, Sjoberg and Gentry (2007, p.9) contend that women who commit acts of terrorism are not seen as terrorists, but as *women terrorists*. The separation of women from the mainstream discourse of terrorism occurs because by committing these acts, women act outside their proscribed gender role (ibid.). In this way, the behaviour of women terrorists is constructed as an abnormality and thus, considered in a subordinate manner; these women cannot be women. The relevant literature demonstrates a gendered dualistic understanding of women in terrorism, whereby women are both considered to be victims yet treated as exceptional for their involvement. This study draws on this dualistic conception as women who undertake a dual role in terrorism fall on both sides of the victim-perpetrator binary, disrupting the dualism, thus revealing a significant gap in the existing research on women in terrorism.

2.2 Media, Terrorism and the Portrayal of Women Terrorists:

The need for accurate news media representations of terrorism is well documented. Reporting on terrorism must be proportionate as overemphasising terror threats increases harm and can even advance terrorist objectives (White, 2020, p.x). Critically, as news frames both reflect and reinforce entrenched social norms, they impact the implementation of counterterrorism policies (Nacos, 2005, p.448). Manifestly, the existing literature highlights the long-term implications of news media portrayals of terrorism, affirming the significance of investigating media representations in the context of terrorism. With several scholars reporting that women generate more news media attention (Bloom and Lokmanoglu, 2020, p.409; Bloom, 2007, p.100), understanding the specific portrayals of women in terrorism is imperative.

A vast amount of literature has investigated the gendered narratives deployed in news media portrayals of terrorism. Comparing news media representations of two high-profile jihadi terrorists, Krona and Caskey (2023, p.1059) proved the gender differences in news coverage, highlighting the deployment of gendered media tropes of masculinity and femininity. The differential treatment of women terrorists in the media is established; Nacos (2005, p.446) identified the entrenchment of gender cliches in media portrayals of women terrorists. Moreover, Krona and Caskey (2023, p.1060) conclude that embedded gender stereotypes are intensified in the news coverage of both male and female jihadi terrorists. Previous research thus stresses the reproduction of harmful gendered stereotypes in news media depictions of women terrorists. Despite terrorist activity contradicting the stereotypical expectations held of women as pure, innocent and nonviolent, there is an extensive application of these stereotypes in the media coverage of women involved in terrorism (Sjoberg et al., 2011, p.4). In this way, there is an excessive reliance on expectations of femininity in news media portrayals. As such, the existing scholarship demonstrates a tendency to explain the actions of women terrorists through hegemonic constructions of femininity which diminish women to their proscribed gender role (Krona and Caskey, 2023, p.1055). Altogether, the literature reveals a highly gendered portrayal of women terrorists in the news media.

Specifically, the "jihadi bride" narrative used within the news media has received a lot of scholarly attention. Martini (2018, p.458) studies the media narratives that construct women joining ISIS as "jihadi brides", finding that reports of these women are biased, describing the women through gender stereotypes which disseminate a particular knowledge about them. Identifying "jihadi bride" as a reductionist gendered trope, Krona and Caskey (2023, p.1059) contend that the use of the term in the media, demonstrates that gendered news framing continues to reinforce stereotypes. Furthermore, the 'jihadi bride' label assigns women with a

predetermined gender role (Martini, 2018, p.464). Importantly, analyses of the jihadi bride narrative have revealed that the news media deploy a victim/villain discourse in portrayals of women terrorists. Analysing the framing of "jihadi brides" in British newspapers, Jackson (2019, p.1745) declares that reporters iterated tropes that depict politically violent women as naïve, vulnerable victims, in an effort to understand the actions of these women. Critically, Jackson (2022, p.213), identifies two dominant constructions of "jihadi brides" in the news media: the vulnerable girl and the monstrous woman. As such, Jackson (2022, p.2) argues that a gendered dualism portrays women in terms of a monstrous/vulnerable binary. Recognising the deployment of this gendered dualism in news media portrayals of women terrorists is pertinent to this dissertation, especially given its operation in the journalistic framing of the Bethnal Green trio (Jackson, 2021), one of the case-studies analysed in this dissertation.

The research surrounding the "jihadi bride" narrative demonstrates the necessity of interrogating the gendered framing present in news media portrayals of women terrorists. Previous studies have not examined the representation of women who undertake a dual role in terror. Simultaneously, conforming to gender stereotypes in domesticated roles and unsettling such stereotypes by engaging in terrorism, these women interrupt the reductive dualistic stereotypes shown to be deployed in news media framings. Thus, this dissertation is an essential contribution, offering a more nuanced understanding of the gendered portrayals of women's involvement in terrorism.

3. Analytical Framework:

In this chapter, the analytical framework adopted in this research is presented. First, the chapter outlines the concept of agency. Acknowledging the failure of liberal conceptions of agency, the framework uses a critical feminist approach to retheorise agency. Next, an intersectional approach to agency is examined to consider the multiple structures of power that constitute agentic subjects. Finally, the chapter moves beyond agency to discuss subjectivity. Feminist theory identifies the relegation of women as subordinate subjects and examines the role of discourse and language in reproducing this gendered hierarchy of subjectivity.

3.1 Agency:

Agency is a widely contested term, predominately understood as the capacity of an actor to intervene in the world in an independent manner (McNay, 2015, p.40). Traditionally, the concept of agency has been associated with liberal thought; Bilge (2010 p.12) contends that agency is a deeply liberal concept, in which an agent is considered as a rational, free-willed, choosing subject. However, this liberal conceptualisation of agency has been heavily critiqued; Auchter (2012, p.123) identifies 'problematic foundationalist assumptions' inherent to the liberal notion of agency indicating its unsuitability for this dissertation. Considering feminist scholarship can conceptualise agency more appropriately.

From a feminist perspective, the assumption of rationality within agency is particularly problematic. Davies (1991, p.44) explains that given their otherness to masculinity women are constituted as other to rational thought and thus, considered as irrational beings. In this sense, the rational agent central to a liberal understanding of agency is a masculinised individual. Thus, a feminist lens reveals agency to be gendered as the agentic subject traditionally excludes women deeming them irrational. Furthering the critique, feminist theory contends that women

have been constructed as subordinate non-agents (Auchter, 2012, p.122). Evidently, the liberal conceptualisation of agency is understood to deploy a gendered hierarchy that problematically depicts women as lacking agency; agency is not held equally between genders. For McNay (2015, p.39), given that certain groups have more agency than others, agency is inextricable from analyses of power. Thus, within feminism, there is a recognition agency is tied to structures of power. Critically, as women are deemed less agentic, gendered agency must be connected to patriarchal power structures. As such, a feminist conception of agency not only critiques the systemic construction of women as irrational and thus less agentic within the liberal conceptualisation of agency, but maintains that this is inseparable from power. For the feminist critical discourse analysis (FCDA) employed in this dissertation, this critique of the liberal conception of agency is imperative to question how women undertaking a dual role in terrorism are systemically depicted as less agentic in the news media. Conceptualising agency through a feminist lens enables an examination of how gendered power relations shape the portrayal of these women's agency.

It must be noted that the feminist critique levelled against the liberal conception of agency is limited. Importantly the feminist framework fails to problematise the liberal conceptualisation of rationality. The narrow consideration of rationality has meant that agency and the capacity to choose have been theorised in a restrictive manner. Mahmood (2006) challenges the assumptions surrounding agency in liberal feminist theory. For Mahmood (2006, p.39), feminism has equated women's agency with resistance to relations of domination. In this sense, for a woman to have agency, it must be expressed through acts of resistance against subordination. Furthermore, there is a concomitant assumption that freedom is a universal social ideal (ibid.). Hence, within feminism, it is posited that all women want to be free from the relations of subordination; those who don't are considered irrational. Consequently, the

notion of agency in feminist scholarship is shaped by an assumption of universalised liberal ideal of freedom so that agency is understood to manifest in resistance to oppression. As such, differing forms of agency are not conceived in the feminist conception. Thus, there is an argument that feminism must broaden its conception of agency beyond its inherent liberal assumptions. Understanding the limitation to the feminist conception of agency, this framework uses critical feminist theory to retheorise agency in a more suitable manner.

Through the critique of feminism's liberal assumptions, agency can be retheorised. Analysing the participation of women in the Egyptian mosque movement, Mahmood (2006, p.33) suggests extending the conceptualisation of agency beyond the notion of resistance. With the example of Muslim veiling, certain behaviours that may seem passive from a liberal feminist perspective, are understood as forms of agency but only from within the discourses and structures of subordination that create the conditions of enactment (Mahmood, 2006, p.42). In this sense, subordination can be the context for exercising agency. Here, agency is retheorised so that agency is not solely an act of resisting domination but is understood as a capacity for action enabled and created by historically specific relations of subordination (Mahmood, 2006, p.33-34). Thus, agency is understood to arise in the systems that subordinate certain people. This indicates that agency differs depending on the context and thus, must account for historical and social context. Critically, Mahmood (2006, p.34) argues that broadening the concept of agency is crucial to understanding ways of living and being whose logic does not conform with the liberal political ideal of freedom. Therefore, expanding the conception of agency crucially recognises forms of agency which have tended to be ignored in the restrictive liberal feminist conception. Since the terrorist space exceeds this scope of liberatory politics, the retheorisation of agency offered in this framework is pertinent for this dissertation. In the context of women undertaking a dual role in terrorism, predominately patriarchal power structures shape the

conditions in which agency is made possible. Therefore, the framework provides a more nuanced understanding of the agency of these women acknowledging that their actions are enabled by the patriarchal structures often presumed to constrain them in the terrorist space. Applying this to a FCDA examining the framing of these women permits an interrogation of the problematic and incomplete portrayal of agency in the British news media.

3.1b An Intersectional Approach to Agency:

The term intersectionality was coined by Kimberle Crenshaw (1991, p.1242) to articulate how the experiences of violence against Black women are shaped by multiple dimensions of their identities, such as race and class. For Crenshaw (1991, p.1244), there are numerous ways in which race and gender intersect to shape the aspects of violence committed against women of colour. Here, Crenshaw outlines a framework that considers the interaction between multiple forms of discrimination on individual experience. Applying an intersectional approach to agency is essential for examining how different parts of an individual's identity impacts their agency. Primarily, the interrogation of power within the framework of intersectionality is applicable to the concept of agency. Bilge (2010, p.23) contends that with intersectionality offering a critical lens to analyse the articulation of power, an intersectional approach to agency questions the specific contexts from which distinct forms of agency arise. Hence, there is a recognition that agency is dependent on the interaction between multiple dimensions of an individual's identity. As such, agency is understood to be unique, both arising from and shaped by the intersection between multiple structures of power.

An intersectional approach to agency identifies the multiple structures of power that constitute agency. For Bilge (2010, p.23), intersectionality places the formation of agency within the

structures of race, class and gender that interact to reproduce power. As such, a conception of agency must consider the historicised structures of power that constitute agentic subjects (ibid.). Thus, applying an intersectional approach stresses the need to interrogate how the reproduction of multiple power structures works to deem certain individuals more agentic than others. In essence, considering intersectionality reaffirms the necessity of a context specific understanding of agency. Regarding an analysis of women undertaking a dual role in terrorism, an intersectional approach to agency recognises that a gender-based analysis alone is insufficient as multiple structures of power are at play in exercising agency. Critically, this necessitates an examination of the ways in which multiple power structures shape the portrayal of agency in the news media.

3.2 Subjectivity:

Whilst subjectivity is closely related to the concept of agency, the lack of subjectivity attributed to women has been explored within feminist theory independently. The feminist occupation with the self and subjectivity is often considered to begin from Simone de Beauvoir's *The Second Sex*, with the declaration, '[h]e is the Subject; he is the Absolute. She is the Other' (1949, p.26). Here, there is a recognition that women occupy a secondary position, relegated to the position of the Other. As such, women are considered non-subjects. Identifying women to represent an Other, Smith (2015, p.955) contends that women constitute subjects that occupy a subordinate role dictated by hegemonic narratives. Here, there is a suggestion that certain narratives construct women as lesser subjects. In this way, a feminist perspective on subjectivity acknowledges that becoming a subject is a historical process tied to existing social structures (Smith, 2015, p.955). Therefore, within feminism, subjectivity is tied to structures of power that determine certain narratives as hegemonic; subjectivity is inextricable from power.

A particular hegemonic narrative that has deemed women with less subjectivity has been the description of women in relation to men. de Beauvoir (1949, p.26) recognised this, contending that humanity is male so that man defines women in relation to himself; consequently, women are not considered autonomous beings. Thus, as women are constantly determined in relation to men, they are not their own subjects and have been constructed as inferior. Lakoff (1973, p.45) extends this, affirming that speech about women implies an object, whose social role is derived in relation to men. For instance, the description of a woman as X's 'wife' or 'girlfriend' demonstrates the pervasive identification of women in terms of the men they relate to (Lakoff, 1973, p.65). Rather than holding subjectivity, women are solely identified through the roles they undertake in relation to men. There is an implication that the identity of women is constructed through discourses denoting their relation to men. In this sense, language and discourse are central to subjectivity. Judith Butler's work on subject formation explores this; for Butler, the subject does not exist before discourse, instead it is formed as both an effect of and expressed through discourse (Smith, 2015, p.966). Here, subjectivity is argued to be constantly formed through discourse. There is a suggestion that particular discourses have dominated to relegate women to their relation to men rather than as subjects. With this recognition, feminist theory reveals the need to interrogate the role of discourse and language in shaping subjectivity.

Understanding that the construction of a subject occurs in discourse, Butler extends her theory, locating subject formation within structures of domination (Smith, 2015, p.966). Hence, there is an implication that structures of power are perpetuated and reproduced through discourse. In turn, subjectivity is a constant reproduction of these power relations. Feminist critical discourse

studies has examined the power relations established through discourse; it aims to reveal the ways in which gendered assumptions and hegemonic power relations are at work within discourse (Lazar, 2007, p.142). Critically, there is an acknowledgement that certain discourses sustain a patriarchal social order, reproducing systems of power that systematically disadvantage and exclude women (Lazar, 2007, p.145). Thus, there is a recognition that language and discourse reproduce gendered hierarchies of privilege. As a consequence, subjectivity remains gendered, constructed by the patriarchal power relations reproduced within discourse. As this dissertation undertakes a FCDA of the dual role undertaken by women in terrorism, it is critical to note that patriarchal power is reproduced in the discursive construction of subjectivity. Applying this recognition to an analysis of the framing of these women in British news media, enables an exploration of the ways in which gendered hierarchies of power have constructed women terrorists with less subjectivity.

This chapter has presented the analytical framework adopted within this dissertation outlining specific conceptions for understanding agency and subjectivity. Taken together, the framework necessitates a recognition of the reproduction of power structures in constructing both the agency and subjectivity of women terrorists undertaking a dual role in terrorism.

4. Gendered Framing:

This chapter discusses the overarching framing identified from the analysis of the news media articles. In accordance with the existing literature, both Lewthwaite and the Bethnal Green trio were consistently framed in gendered terms. In particular, reports were found to dismiss a participation in terrorism by adopting a misogynistic tone and emphasising the femininity of the women. With this gendered framing, undertaking a dual role was cast as exceptional and thus, the cases were sensationalised.

Across the news media articles, a gendered frame shaped the portrayal of the women. A common frame noted was the deliberate accentuation of femininity. In both the cases reports frequently included feminised items and activities that were irrelevant to the events. For instance, 'underwear, makeup and an epilator' (Dodd, 2015) appear in several articles listed as items that were considered essential by the Bethnal Green trio. Despite little relevancy to the story, these items serve to stress the femininity of the young women. By appearing before items like plane tickets, it is suggested that traditionally feminine items were deemed more fundamental in their decision to travel to the Islamic State. As such, the trio's actions are constructed as less serious and are trivialised to readers. Similarly, one article discussing Lewthwaite declares 'as well as bomb-making she appears to have been preoccupied with her personal appearance' (Siddique, 2013). Alongside an engagement with terrorism, this unnecessarily highlights Lewthwaite's fixation on her appearance to remind readers of her femininity. Critically, the lexical selection of 'preoccupied' constructs Lewthwaite as uncommitted, suggesting that her appearance is a priority, hindering a full commitment to terrorism. Evidently, both examples are highly gendered, aligning with traditional stereotypes that consider women to be obsessed with their appearance and beauty. In this way, the news media portrayals entrench gender stereotypes by emphasising physical expectations of femininity. This framing downplays an involvement in terrorism, reinforcing a reductive narrative that suggests women are never as committed to terrorist ideals as men.

At times the gendered framing extended into a misogynistic tone. In an explanation of the trio's actions, one article quotes a counterterrorism expert saying "They've probably never had a boyfriend. They've got hormones all over the place" (Patterson, 2016). Here, a sexist narrative reduces the complexity of the events, as the trio are understood to be driven by hormonal impulsivity. This deeply gendered frame contains a misogynistic tone that diminishes the young woman, reproducing a gendered trope that suggests their actions were driven by a desire for a relationship. This narrative was also applied to Lewthwaite, most notably with the headline 'I just wanted to marry a Muslim and settle down' (The Times, 2012a), implying that Lewthwaite's desire to get married led to a transgression to terrorism. This misogynistic portrayal also features in articles reporting that Lewthwaite wrote a love poem for Osama bin Laden; for example, *The Times* writes 'In her *Ode to Osama*... [Lewthwaite] appears to declare her love for the late terrorist leader' (Starkey and Brown, 2013). The portrayal suggests that Lewthwaite's involvement in terrorism is the result of an obsessive fascination with bin Laden; she is devoted to him rather than a terrorist ideology. Therefore, in both cases the rationale behind an involvement in terrorism was dismissed by misogynistic assumptions that constructed the women as impulsive and infatuated with men. These are both harmful gender stereotypes the denote women as overly emotional. As such, by reproducing gender stereotypes, these narratives contributed to the wider gendered framing that dismissed their participation in terrorism.

In the analysis, it emerged that both the cases were sensationalised by the news media. Headlines such as 'Tips on being a model wife, by bomber's widow' (Gibbons, 2013), 'Snaps show family life of 'terror mother'' (Smith and Gadher, 2012) and 'Beheadings and a taste for chips: the life of British jihadist bride' (Gadher, 2015) purposefully created shock among readers. Contrasting the violence of terrorism with traditional gender roles, the women were made exceptional. By implying a contradiction between the two, the headlines suggest that the women have betrayed the expectations of these roles. In this way, a gendered frame reinforces gender norms that proscribe specific roles for women, which are constructed as incompatible with any participation in terrorism. Consequently, having a dual role in terrorism is portrayed as deviant. Hence, there is an argument that the perception of the women through their dual role has made the cases sensational. Portrayed as women who transgressed from accepted gender roles by undertaking a dual role in terrorism, these women received extensive coverage. Supporting this finding, Krona and Caskey (2023, p.1056) affirm that due to the shock value of women participating in terrorism, the media often employed the notion of motherhood to instil fear among readers. Evidently, for representations of women involved in terrorism, traditional gender roles are deliberately deployed to garner more media attention. As such, for both Lewthwaite and the trio, the perception of a dual role was constructed as an abnormality. Both women challenged stereotypical gender expectations and thus were sensationalised.

Overall, this chapter has demonstrated the overarching gendered framing of news media portrayals of women who undertake a dual role. Recognising an extensive gendered frame, the analysis specifically interrogates the portrayal of agency and subjectivity within this frame, investigating the similarities and differences between cases and news media outlets.

5. Agency:

This chapter discusses how the agency of women undertaking a dual role in terrorism is portrayed in the news media. The analysis revealed that news media portrayals consistently reduced the agency of the women through media narratives specific to the perception of a dual role. Additionally, media narratives victimised the women, constructing them as passive in their radicalisation to terrorism, excluding their agency in the process. Finally, applying an intersectional lens revealed a difference in the portrayal of agency; whiteness deemed Lewthwaite more exceptional, attributing her with more agency than the Bethnal Green trio.

5.1a The Prospect of Marriage:

A common narrative deployed in the news media framing was an attempt to explain the motivations of these women by emphasising the prospect of marriage offered in terrorist organisations. This narrative appeared extensively in articles surrounding the Bethnal Green trio's decision to join the Islamic State (ISIS) and resulted in undermining their agency. Following the developments to the story, one article reported that the trio are 'intending to become jihadi brides' (Dodd, Topping and Gani, 2015). With this report, the media constructed a narrative which depicted marriage as the sole intention behind the trio's actions. The narrative was supported in multiple accounts with phrases such as '[Abase] pined for marriage' (Gadher, 2015b), insinuating that the trio held a committed determination to get married. By reiterating the trio's desire to get married, the articles employ a reductive narrative which simplifies the complexity of the decision to join ISIS. Within the narrative, all other motivations are disregarded to suggest that the trio only left because ISIS offered a way to make this desire attainable. Thus, by denying the complexity to the trio's actions, the narrative undermines the agency of the trio. Martini (2018, p.464) explains that as the decision to join ISIS is interpreted through a gender lens, there is a failure to consider women as complex actors, which constructs

them as non-agential subjects. There is an implication that attributing the trio's actions to the prospect of marriage, a deeply gendered narrative, news media articles reproduced gender norms to diminish agency.

Suggesting marriage as the trio's motivation reduced their agency in undertaking a dual role in terrorism. For instance, one article claims '[t]hey swapped A-level courses at Bethnal Green academy in London for life on the frontline and the prospect of marriage' (MacAskill, 2016). In this framing, undertaking a dual role is infantilised by equating it to A-level studies. This infantilisation reminds the readers of the trio's young age and thus, constructs them as naïve and innocent. As such, these portrayals stripped the agency of the young women, trivialising the dual role they hold. By emphasising their youth, discourses denied the trio full autonomy in their actions, suggesting that they were influenced. Readers are left to infer that the trio were influenced by the prospect of marriage. This framing reinforces the perception of naivety, denoting the young woman as irrational and infatuated with men. Thus, in a suggestion that the young women's capacity to act independently is influenced by a need for a relationship with men, gender subordination further infantilised the trio's actions. Compounded by their age, a discourse of infantilisation reproduced patriarchal narratives to diminish the agency of young women. Hence, foregrounding the prospect of marriage media narratives portrayed the Bethnal Green trio as non-agentic subjects when undertaking a dual role in terrorism.

Even when married, articles continued to suggest that the Bethnal Green trio lacked agency. Across both the news outlets, the young women were often portrayed as passive in their marriages. Articles claimed that the trio 'married men approved by Isis' (Dodd, 2016) and 'had husbands 'approved' for them' (Dodd and Khomami, 2015). The lexical repetition of

'approved', repeatedly constructs the trio as non-agentic, emphasising that ISIS made the decision. This finding corresponds with other representations of women's agency in the news media. Bloom and Lokmanoglu (2020, p.400) contend that the news media perceives women's agency in terrorism through a patriarchal lens, whereby men control power. In this argument, news media portrayals of women in terrorism reproduce patriarchal power structures with an assumption that men hold authority in the terrorist space. In this way, the entrenchment of patriarchal perspectives in the news media has neglected women's agency. For the Bethnal Green trio, this neglection emerged in the portrayals of their marriages; constructing the trio as inferior to the masculinised authority of ISIS, reproduced the patriarchal notion that men hold power. As such, the analysis revealed that gendered power relations have systemically denied the agency of the trio in depictions of their marriage.

5.1b Maternal Failure:

For Lewthwaite, an emphasis on her failure as a mother undermined her agency in undertaking a dual role in terrorism. Claims like '[Lewthwaite] tried to juggle family life with a desire for jihad' (Gadher and Amoore, 2013) create a perception that Lewthwaite has failed to simultaneously perform her domesticated role as a mother and remain committed to active jihadism. As such, it is suggested that motherhood and jihadism are incompatible. In this narrative, motherhood limits Lewthwaite's capacity to fully engage in terrorism, reducing Lewthwaite's agency. Therefore, framing Lewthwaite though her dual role has portrayed her as less agentic than men in the terrorist space, confirming a gendered double standard as male terrorists are rarely judged for being a father in the media (Nacos, 2005, p.445).

News media portrayals further eroded Lewthwaite's agency through a focus on her divergence from traditional expectations of motherhood. An example manifests in a report that Lewthwaite is 'using her children as cover for her alleged terrorist activities' (Smith and Gadher, 2012). Here, news media discourse reproduced a gendered power hierarchy to judge Lewthwaite through traditional gender roles, so that her engagement in terrorism was considered deviant. It must be noted that articles depicting Lewthwaite as a deviant mother featured to a greater extent in *The Times*, with Lewthwaite's transgression receiving more condemnation. This indicates that traditional gender roles are further entrenched in the right-wing media. Critically, the insinuation that Lewthwaite exploited her own children to commit terrorism frames her actions as the ultimate betrayal of motherhood. As such, the framing vilifies Lewthwaite, suggesting that her dual role is a severely abnormal deviation from gender norms. The vilification of Lewthwaite's maternal failure is an example of Jackson's (2022, p.19) monstrous mother narrative, in which women are depicted as profoundly transgressing gendered expectations. Deploying this narrative denied Lewthwaite's agency, as monstrous women are not held responsible for their actions because their womanhood is considered defective (Sjoberg and Gentry, 2007, p.37). In this way, constructing Lewthwaite as abnormal denied her capacity to make an independent, rational choice to commit violence (Sjoberg and Gentry, 2007, p.30); she was portrayed as a non-agentic subject.

In both the case studies news media portrayals denied women's agency in undertaking a dual role in terrorism. Deploying gendered narratives of marriage and motherhood, news media discourses were found to reproduce and reinforce a gendered hierarchy of social norms that undermined the agency of the women.

5.2 Passivity in Radicalisation:

Another frame that emerged across the case studies was the depiction of the women as passive in their radicalisation to terrorism. With this frame, news media portrayals restricted the agency of the women in this process. A prominent example of this framing appears in the phrase 'lured by Isis' see, for example, Dodd, Topping and Gani 2015. This phrase was repeatedly deployed in reports seeking to explain the Bethnal Green trio's actions. The use of 'lured' invokes a sense of manipulation, insinuating that the trio were tricked into their decision to join ISIS. In this narrative, the trio are constructed as helpless, vulnerable victims of ISIS propaganda and thus, are passive. As the young women were 'lured', it is suggested that they did not exercise agency in their decision. Instead, their agency is conferred to ISIS. Therefore, by framing the trio as victims of manipulation, they were portrayed as non-agentic. The systematic use of verbs like 'sucked in', 'groomed' and 'brainwashed' supported the frame, further dismissing agency. As explored earlier, the trio's age compounded the reduction of agency. Headlines like '[p]ointless death of a brainwashed teenage bride' (Ellen, 2016) emphasised the young age of the trio, intensifying the perception that the trio were naïve and vulnerable. This strengthened the narrative, by suggesting to readers that their young age made them more susceptible to manipulation. As such, age exacerbated the framing, further undermining the portrayal of agency in radicalisation.

The framing was also applied to Lewthwaite's radicalisation. For example, one article claims Lewthwaite was 'radicalised by a terror kingpin in Yemen' (Amoore and Gadher, 2013), dismissing her individual agency in the radicalisation process. In the narrative, Lewthwaite is constructed as passive in her own radicalisation, cast as a victim of a terrorist leader's ability to exploit and manipulate; she is portrayed as non-agential. Auer, Sutcliffe and Lee (2018, p.294) observed that in order to comprehend Lewthwaite's conversion to terrorism, news

frames ascribed her deviation to the manipulativeness of Muslim men, nullifying her political aspirations. This finding is verified in this analysis; news media portrayals of Lewthwaite's radicalisation neglected her personal motivation and commitment to terrorist ideals, radically undermining individual agency. Another notable banalisation of Lewthwaite's radicalisation occurs in the suggestion that her conversion was prompted by past-trauma. Discussing Lewthwaite's conversion to Islam, one article declares 'teenage Lewthwaite was apparently traumatised by her parents' divorce' (Gilham, 2013). In this depiction, it is suggested that Lewthwaite's parents' divorce precipitated a personal crisis, leading her to Islam. In this way, Lewthwaite did not choose to convert, emotional distress forced her to. Highlighting Lewthwaite's vulnerability to past trauma, constructs her as a victim. As such, Lewthwaite is passive in her conversion, reducing her agency. Therefore, the analysis revealed the consistent deployment of a victimisation framing in news media portrayals of Lewthwaite's radicalisation; portrayals were committed to framing Lewthwaite as passive in her radicalisation, neglecting her agentic capacity.

In both cases, news media portrayals framed the women as victims in their radicalisation, reducing the agency of the women. This finding reveals that news media reproduced essentialist gendered assumptions about the involvement of women in political violence to deny their agency. Jackson (2019, p.1745) notes that entrenched stereotypes of politically violent women as naïve victims, who lack the ideological commitment presumed of radicalised men, erase the agency of women who join ISIS. In this sense, gender stereotypes have rationalised women's violence, creating an invariable assumption that women are always tricked and manipulated into violence. News media portrayals of the women's radicalisation were found to recite erroneous gendered discourses about the participation of women in political violence and thus eroded the women's agency in the radicalisation process. Critically, the determination to erase

the agency of the women demonstrates that the news media enshrined a liberal perspective of agency in the portrayals. Constructing the women as non-agentic, manipulated victims, fails to recognise the 'specific relations of subordination' (Mahmood, 2006, p.33-34) that enabled the women to exercise agency in their radicalisation. Thus, in a particular structure of meaning, the women did hold agency, yet the news articles did not portray this. Instead, by dismissing agency, narratives of victimisation offered a rationalisation of the women's radicalisation, enabling readers to disregard the uncomfortable agency that the women did hold in their decision to engage with a terrorist organisation. Denying this agency, victimisation narratives maintained gendered power structures that neglect forms of agency beyond the notion of resistance.

5.3 Whiteness:

Despite noting a consistent reduction of agency in news media portrayals of women undertaking a dual role in terrorism, one difference did emerge. The racial identity of the women resulted in differing portrayals of agency. Throughout the news articles Lewthwaite was dubbed the 'White Widow', see, for example, Gadher 2015a. The use of this epithet deliberately stressed Lewthwaite's white identity to readers, constructing whiteness as a core characteristic of her identity. Auer, Sutcliffe and Lee (2018, p.290) explain that the journalistic inclusion of Lewthwaite's whiteness is deployed to distinguish her from other women terrorists, insinuating that white identity makes her unique. In this sense, Lewthwaite's white identity made her exceptional, so that the construction of whiteness empowered Lewthwaite with a particular capacity for action in undertaking a dual role in terrorism.

Lewthwaite's greater agentic capacity is exemplified in articles that framed Lewthwaite as a commanding member of Al-Shabaab. For instance, reports suggested that Lewthwaite is 'suspected of masterminding a terrorist cell' (Hirsch, 2013) and 'regarded as a "serious player" and an alleged financier' (Gadher and Bagenal, 2012). In this framing, the indication that Lewthwaite controlled and managed terrorist activities portrays Lewthwaite as agentic in her leadership position. In these depictions, Lewthwaite was set apart from other women terrorists, exercising more agency in her involvement. In this way, although Lewthwaite's gender identity restricted her agency, her racial identity presented her with more agency than non-white women in terrorism. From an intersectional perspective, by privileging Lewthwaite's whiteness news media portrayals problematically reproduced a racial hierarchy, whereby whiteness attributed Lewthwaite more agency than non-white women terrorists like the Bethnal Green trio in the perception of a dual role. Evidently, multiple structures of power shape the portrayal of agency in the news media, indicating that exploring the interaction of these structures is a fruitful area for future research investigating news media portrayals of women in terrorism.

This chapter has demonstrated that news media articles reproduced gendered power structures to systemically deny the agency of women undertaking a dual role in terrorism. The analysis revealed that incomplete portrayal of women's agency was shaped by multiple structures of power. As demonstrated in the next chapter, the erasure of women's agency was reinforced by discourses of gendered subjectivity deployed throughout the news media articles.

6. Subjectivity:

This chapter explores the portrayal of subjecthood in the news media, noting the deployment of discourses of gendered subjectivity. Constructed as non-subjects, discourse structures depicted the women as subordinate to men. As such, gendered hierarchies of power were reproduced in news media portrayals. Critically, the chapter shows that subjecthood influenced the portrayal of agency, to argue that discourses of gender subordination facilitated the denial of the women's agency in news media framing.

6.1a Schoolgirls:

A discursive pattern that emerged in the analysis was the description of the Bethnal Green trio as schoolgirls. This label was repeatedly used in headlines such as "Syria-bound' schoolgirls: East London mosque calls for worshippers' help' (Halliday et al., 2015). In these narratives, the trio's identity is reduced to the label, withholding personal subjectivity. This linguistic decision emphasises the youth and immaturity of the trio. Critically, this construction is gendered which produces a specific constrained subjectivity, deliberately framing the trio as and vulnerable and innocent. Determining the trio's subjecthood through the schoolgirl label reflects the establishment of gender norms in the news media. The use of the label reiterated traditional expectations of femininity onto the identity of the trio. Based upon gender expectations, the identification of the trio through the schoolgirl label reproduced existing gendered power relations which have systemically determined women as lesser subjects. In this case, the schoolgirl label demonstrates the operation of gendered hierarchies of power through the use of discourses of gendered subjectivity within the news media portrayal of women undertaking a dual role in terrorism.

The deployment of schoolgirl as a discourse of gender subjectivity dismissed agency. Krona and Caskey (2023, p.1055) state that the connotations of naivety and immaturity evoked in portrayals of Shamima Begum as a schoolgirl reinforced the narrative that she was non-agentic. Applying this recognition, the use of schoolgirl to depict the subjecthood of the Bethnal Green trio facilitated the news media framing of the trio as non-agentic subjects, as discussed in the previous chapter. In multiple *The Times* articles, this was compounded with the depiction of '[r]unaway schoolgirls', see, for example, Morris 2015. In these narratives, 'runaway' connotes naivety to suggest that the trio were misguided, further enabling a neglection of agency. Evidently, discourses of gendered subjectivity reinforced the subversion of agency in news media portrayals of the Bethnal Green trio.

6.1b Widow, Daughter, Bride:

Another discursive pattern of gendered subjectivity identified in the analysis was the identification of both the cases in relation to male subjects. For Lewthwaite, this was extensive, with readers consistently reminded that she was a widow. Rather than naming Lewthwaite herself, headlines repeatedly labelled her as the 'White Widow', see, for example, Addley and Hirsch 2013. Similarly, in many reports her personal identity was diminished to the 'widow of one of the July 7 bombers' (The Times, 2012b). Rather than acknowledging Lewthwaite's personal subjectivity, discourse structures reduced her identity to her status as a widow, framing her in terms of the actions of her late husband. Discourse portrayed Lewthwaite as a lesser subject. Thus, centring Lewthwaite's identity in association with her husband, news media articles reproduced established patriarchal considerations of women as non-subjects.

Even when Lewthwaite was not described in relation to her ex-husband, articles continued to stress her relation to men. Articles frequently described Lewthwaite as 'the daughter of a former British army soldier', see, for example, Laville and Ni Chonghaile 2012. Despite little relevancy, Lewthwaite's identity remains derived from a male figure in her life. Emphasising her role as a daughter, Lewthwaite is constructed with less subjectivity than her father in this narrative, eradicating her personal identity. The fascination with Lewthwaite's relationships with men in the news media (Auer, Sutcliffe and Lee, 2018, p.292), indicates that news media portrayals were determined to deny Lewthwaite's subjectivity. By deploying gendered discourse structures Lewthwaite's identity was continually diminished to frame her as a supportive character in narratives. Critically, the lack of subjectivity relegates Lewthwaite to a subordinate position to these men, perpetuating existing gendered power hierarchies that privilege men and consider women as inferior. As such, the repeated use of discourses of gender subordination in news media articles reproduced gendered hierarchies of power, privileging men to portray Lewthwaite with less subjectivity.

In news media articles representing the Bethnal Green trio, a telling discourse structure in the portrayal of subjectivity was the term "jihadi bride". Labelling the trio as "jihadi brides" constructed them trio lesser subjects. The "jihadi bride" construction undermines the trio's individual identity, as they are understood only in terms of their marital status to men. Moreover, reports such as 'three British jihadi brides reported to be on the run' (Halliday and Dodd, 2015) anonymised the trio through the label. The strategic decision to omit their names, fully denies the trio's subjecthood in the events. Krona and Caskey (2023, p.1059) note that with the use of "jihadi bride", women are constructed as a complement to men, diminished to the patriarchal gaze. Thus, as a discourse of gender subordination, the phrase reproduces patriarchal structures of domination to construct the trio as inferior subjects in the terrorist

space. Articles using the label attributed the trio with less subjectivity, implying to readers that the young women are subordinate to their jihadist husbands. Although both news media outlets used the label, the analysis discovered a more consistent use in *The Times*, indicating a greater tendency to consider the trio as subordinate, non-subjects in the news outlet. This finding suggests a further establishment of patriarchal power structures and notions of hegemonic masculinity in *The Times*, that were reproduced in the framing of women undertaking a dual role.

Critically, the deployment of "jihadi bride" contributed to undermining the trio's agency in news media portrayals. Martini (2018, p.465) explains that as a "jihadi bride", a women's project becomes subordinated to a man's agenda, denying her agency outside the frame of marriage (Martini, 2018, p.465). In this sense, with the women's subjectivity constructed in relation to a man, her capacity for action also becomes attached to a man. Therefore, labelling the trio as "jihadi brides", news media portrayals diminished their individual agency, conferring it to their husbands. This ignored the agency that the young women held outside their role as a wife and thus, denied agency in undertaking a dual role. Therefore, news media discourses of gendered subjectivity reinforce the incomplete portrayal of agency of the Bethnal Green trio.

In either case, feminine identities constructed the women as subordinate subjects in news media discourses. For Auer, Sutcliffe and Lee (2018, p.292) the accentuation of the gender identities of women terrorists in the news media erodes women's agency in acts of terrorism. Hence, by emphasising Lewthwaite's and the trio's femininity, the persistent use of gendered subjectivity in the news media exacerbated the denial of agency in the news media portrayals of women undertaking a dual role in terrorism. There is an implication that the reproduction of gendered

hierarchies of power within discursive structures reaffirmed the gendered assumptions and stereotypes that reduced the women's agency in the first place. In this sense, the construction of both Lewthwaite and the Bethnal Green trio as subordinate, lesser subjects constrained the women to traditional roles that align with the patriarchal subordinate position of women, helping dismiss their agency elsewhere. As such, these discursive structures provided rationality for the conception that women undertaking a dual role had a restricted agentic capacity by reproducing the notion of women's subordination in the terrorist space. Therefore, with the dismissal of women's agency consistently supported through discursive structures of gendered subjectivity and subordination, the analysis revealed the systemic subversion of agency in the news media portrayals of women undertaking a dual role in terrorism.

This chapter identified the use of discourses of gendered subjectivity in news media portrayals of women undertaking a dual role in terrorism. Reproducing gendered hierarchies of power, the discourses constructed the women as subordinate, contributing to the denial of agency.

7. Conclusion:

The notion of women's dual role in terrorism is an unexplored area of analysis in studies of news media framing of women in terrorism. Conducting a feminist critical discourse analysis, this dissertation identified an overarching gendered framing of news media portrayals of women undertaking a dual role in terrorism. The gendered framing was found to reproduce gender stereotypes and gendered power structures, aligning with previous research that has identified the amplification of entrenched gender stereotypes in news media representations of women terrorists (Krona and Caskey, 2023, p.1060). Recognising this gendered frame, the dissertation interrogated the portrayal of agency and subjectivity in the news media.

The analysis revealed that news media articles consistently reproduced essentialist gender stereotypes to reduce the agency of these women. Whilst previous studies have similarly problematised the gendered construction of women in terrorism as non-agential (Martini, 2018, p.464; Jackson, 2019, p. 1740), these studies are largely focused on news media representations of women in traditional roles in terrorist organisations. Thus, studies have not explored how the perception of a dual role in terrorism impacts the portrayal of women's agency. The analysis demonstrated that through gendered narratives related to marriage and motherhood, news media portrayals relied upon traditional expectations of femininity to deny the women's agency in undertaking a dual role. Furthermore, framing the women as victims, reinforced gender stereotypes of naivety to further erode the women's agency, suggesting manipulation in their decision to engage in terrorism in the first place. Across the news media articles, the analysis identified the use of discourses of gendered subjectivity which denoted less subjectivity. The construction of the women as subordinate through these discourses revealed the reproduction of gendered hierarchies of power in the portrayal of the subjecthood of the women. Critically, it was argued that discursive structures of gendered subjectivity facilitated the denial of the

women's agency by reaffirming the understanding that women are subordinate in the terrorist space. Given the consistent deployment of these structures, the dissertation contends that there is a systemic denial of women's agency in news media portrayals of women undertaking a dual role in terrorism.

A salient finding was that Lewthwaite's whiteness attributed her with more agency than the Bethnal Green trio. Thus, through an intersectional framework, the analysis revealed that multiple structures of power shaped the portrayal of agency. Future research should further investigate the interaction of power structures in news media portrayals of women undertaking a dual role in terrorism. An inherent limitation of this dissertation was the restriction to two case studies. As such, within future research, the use of multiple, varied case studies would offer a more nuanced insight of the gendered denial of women's agency and wider intersectional impacts.

The implications of this dissertation are significant. Predominately, it has illustrated the continued reproduction and reinforcement of gendered hierarchies of power in news media discourse. In the context of women in terrorism, this manifests in the reproduction of gender stereotypes to construct women as subordinate, non-agentic subjects. Nacos (2005, p.436) suggests that counterterrorism policy would be enriched by understanding the disparity between the news media's stereotypical women terrorist and actual gender roles in terrorist organisations. Thus, the findings of this dissertation are informative for future counterterrorist policy. Recognising the news media's systemic neglection of agency through the gendered framing of these women, necessitates an understanding and implementation of the full agentic capacity of women undertaking a dual role in terrorism in future policy.

Bibliography:

Addley, E. and Hirsch, A. (2013) "White widow": Interpol arrest warrant issued for Samantha Lewthwaite", *The Guardian*, 27 September.

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2013/sep/26/interpol-arrest-warrant-samantha-lewthwaite-white-widow (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Amoore, M. and Gadher, D. (2013) 'White Widow's new link with al Qaeda', *The Sunday Times*, 27 October. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/6e832421-9901-4b2a-bd72-f81704739e29 (Accessed 11 March 2025).

Auchter, J. (2012) 'Gendering Terror: Discourses of Terrorism and Writing Women-As-Agent', *International Feminist Journal of Politics*, 14(1), pp. 121-139.

Auer, M., Sutcliffe, J. and Lee, M. (2018) 'Framing the 'White Widow': Using intersectionality to uncover complex representations of female terrorism in news media, *Media, War & Conflict*, 12(3), pp. 281-298

Banks, C. (2019) 'Introduction: Women, Gender, and Terrorism: Gendering Terrorism', *Women & Criminal Justice*, 29(4–5), pp. 181-187.

BBC (2013) 'Profile: Samantha Lewthwaite', *BBC News*, 26 September. Available at: https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-24204517 (Accessed 26 October 2024).

BBC (2024) 'Who is Shamima Begum and how can you lose your citizenship?', *BBC News*, 25 March. Available at https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/explainers-53428191 (Accessed: 1 April 2025).

Bigio, J. and Vogelstein, R. (2019) 'Understanding Women's Roles in Terrorism', *Women and Terrorism: Hidden Threats, Forgotten Partners*, Council on Foreign Relations, pp. 3 – 15.

Available at: <u>UNDERSTANDING WOMEN'S ROLES IN TERRORISM from Women and</u>
Terrorism: Hidden Threats, Forgotten Partners on JSTOR (Accessed: 10 November 2024).

Bilge, S. (2010) 'Beyond Subordination vs. Resistance: An Intersectional Approach to the Agency of Veiled Muslim Women', *Journal of Intercultural Studies*, 31(1), pp. 9-28.

Bloom, M. (2007) 'Female suicide bombers: a global trend', *Daedalus*, 136(1), pp. 94-102.

Bloom, M. (2011) 'Bombshells: Women and Terror', Gender Issues, 28, pp. 1-21.

Bloom, M. and Lokmanoglu, A. (2020) 'From Pawn to Knights: The Changing Role of Women's Agency in Terrorism?', *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 46(4), pp. 399-414.

Centre of Excellence Defence Against Terrorism (COE-DAT). (2021) *Gender in Terrorism and Counter-terrorism: Data, Analysis and Responses*. Workshop Report. Ankara. Available at: Gender in Terrorism and Counter-terrorism: Data, Analysis and Responses Workshop

Report (Accessed: 28 October 2024).

Crenshaw, K. (1991) 'Mapping the Margins: Intersectionality, Identity Politics, and Violence against Women of Color', *Stanford Law Review*, 43(6), pp. 1241-1299.

Davies, B. (1991) 'The Concept of Agency: A Feminist Poststructuralist Analysis', *Social Analysis: The International Journal of Social and Cultural Practice*, (30), pp. 42-53.

de Beauvoir, S. (1949) *The Second Sex*. Translated from French by C. Borde and S. Malovany-Chevallier. New York: Random House, Inc. [2010].

Dodd, V. (2015) 'London schoolgirls' Syria checklist found in bedroom', *The Guardian*, 9 March. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/mar/09/london-schoolgirls-syria-journey-checklist-found-in-bedroom (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Dodd, V. (2016) 'Four London schoolgirls who left UK for Syria marred men approved by Isis', *The Guardian*, 20 January. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2016/jan/19/four-london-schoolgirls-who-left-uk-for-syria-married-men-approved-by-isis (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Dodd, V. and Khomami, N. (2015) 'Two Bethnal Green schoolgirls 'now married to Isis men' in Syria', *The Guardian*, 4 July. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/jul/04/two-bethnal-green-schoolgirls-now-married-isis-men-syria (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Dodd, V., Topping, A. and Gani, A. (2015) 'Missing girls lured by Isis won't face terrorism charges, says Met chief', *The Guardian*, 11 March. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2015/mar/10/missing-girls-stole-family-jewellery-syria-trip-police (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Ellen, B. (2016) 'Pointless death of this brainwashed teenage bride', *The Guardian*, 14 August. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2016/aug/13/kadizasultana-isis-death (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Fairclough, N. (1995) *Critical Discourse Analysis: the critical study of language*. London & New York: Longman.

Fairclough, N. (2003) *Analysing Discourse: Textual analysis for social research*. London: Routledge.

Fullmer, N., Lipson Mizrahi, S. and Tomsich, E. (2019) 'The Lethality of Female Suicide Bombers', *Women & Criminal Justice*, 29(4–5), pp. 266-282.

Gadher, D. (2015a) 'British bungle let the 'White Widow' go free', *The Sunday Times*, 8 March. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/c42e9fb6-c497-4d15-a7a9-a39584861e69 (Accessed 11 March 2025).

Gadher, D. (2015b) 'Beheadings and a taste for chips: the life of a British jihadist bride', *The Sunday Times*, 26 April. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/fed395c1-202d-4443-b54f-7528fdcda11f (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Gadher, D. and Amoore, M. (2013) 'White Widow's recipe for a happy home', *The Sunday Times*, 1 December. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/913bd7ba-70e2-47ef-9c48-d7b59f8448a1 (Accessed 11 March 2025).

Gadher, D. and Bagenal, F. (2012) '7/7 widow linked to Eton bomb plot', *The Sunday Times*, 15 July. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/4494e553-9797-43e5-b6f9-59bb5adab7f5 (Accessed 11 March 2025).

Gan, R., Seng Neo, L., Chin, J. and Khader, M. (2019) 'Change is the Only Constant: The Evolving Role of Women in the Islamic State in Iraq and Syria (ISIS)', *Women & Criminal Justice*, 29(4–5), pp. 204-220.

Gibbons, K. (2013) 'Tips on being a model wide, by bomber's widow', *The Times*, 2 December. https://www.thetimes.com/article/84be2242-ce0d-44a8-acdd-7f698a47d600 (Accessed 11 March 2025).

Gilham, J. (2013) "White widow": public enemy No 1, *The Guardian*, 25 September. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2013/sep/25/white-widow-samantha-lewthwaite (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Halliday, J., Gani, A., Dodd, V. and Johnston, C. (2015) "Syria-bound schoolgirls: East London mosque calls for worshippers' help", *The Guardian*, 22 February. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2015/feb/21/east-london-mosque-calls-worshippers-help-trace-schoolgirls-syria (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Hirsh, A. (2013) 'Westgate mall siege: hostage crisis over, say Kenyan officials', *The Guardian*, 24 September. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2013/sep/24/kenya-mall-hostage-westgate-nairobi (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Interpol (2025) Red Notices: Lewthwaite, Samantha Louise. Available at:

https://www.interpol.int/en/How-we-work/Notices/Red-Notices/View-Red-Notices#2018-89546 (Accessed: 27 October 2024).

Jackson, L. B. (2019) 'Framing British 'Jihadi Brides': Metaphor and the Social Construction of I.S. Women', *Terrorism and Political Violence*, 33(8), pp.1733-1751.

Jackson, L. B. (2021) 'Still just victims or villains? The "jihadi brides" and the representation of politically violent women', *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, 14(4), pp. 412-415.

Jackson, L. B. (2022) The Monstrous & the Vulnerable: Framing British Jihadi Brides.

London: Hurst & Company. Available at:

http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780197647332.001.0001 (Accessed: April 17, 2025).

Krona, M. and Caskey, O. (2023) 'The Gangster and the Bride: The Media Representation of Masculinity and Femininity in News Coverage of Jihadi Terrorists', *Terrorism and Political Violence*, 36(8), pp. 1048-1063.

Lakoff, R. (1973) 'Language and Woman's Place', Language in Society, 2(1), pp. 45-80.

Laville, S. and Ni Chonghaile, C. (2012) '7/7 bomber's widow sought over Kenya terror plot', *The Guardian*, 29 February. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2012/feb/29/bombers-widow-sought-kenya-terror-plot (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Lazar, M. M. (2007) 'Feminist Critical Discourse Analysis: Articulating a Feminist Discourse Praxis', *Critical Discourse Studies*, 4(2), pp. 141-164.

Lazar, M. M. (2017) 'Feminist critical discourse analysis', in J. Flowerdew and J. Richardson (eds) *The Routledge Handbook of Critical Discourse Studies*, London: Routledge, pp. 372-387.

MacAskill, E. (2016) 'Tally of Britons joining Isis and similar groups abroad grown to 850', *The Guardian*, 12 August. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2016/aug/11/britons-joining-isis-grown-to-850-100-killed-syria-khadiza-sultana (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Mahmood, S. (2006) 'Feminist Theory, Agency, and the Liberatory Subject: Some Reflections on the Islamic Revival in Egypt', *Temenos*, 42(1), pp. 31-71.

Martini, A. (2018) 'Making women terrorists into "Jihadi brides": an analysis of media narratives on women joining ISIS', *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, 11(3), pp. 458-477.

McNay, L. (2015) 'Agency' in Disch, L. and Hawkesworth, M. (eds.) *The Oxford Handbook of Feminist Theory*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 39-60.

Morris, J. (2015) 'Runaway schoolgirls 'married in Isis ceremonies'', *The Times*, 4 July. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/02b04f9d-13ab-402e-90d6-5eb2a8ce5520 (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Nacos, B. L. (2005) 'The Portrayal of Female Terrorists in the Media: Similar Framing Patterns in the News Coverage of Women in Politics and in Terrorism', *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 28(5), pp. 435-451.

Patterson, C. (2016) 'What drives intelligent young women to become "jihadi brides"?', *The Sunday Times*, 28 August. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/e7cb4562-6877-11e6-99d8-ef908f1112d5 (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Phelan, A. (2020) 'Special Issue Introduction for Terrorism, Gender and Women: Toward an Integrated Research Agenda', *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism*, 46(4), pp. 353-361.

Ponsford, D. (2024) 'Partisan publishers: Why Keir Starmer will have an easier election than Neil Kinnock', *Press Gazette*, 13 March. Available at: https://pressgazette.co.uk/media-

<u>audience-and-business-data/media_metrics/uk-media-bias-2024/</u> (Accessed: 14 November 2024).

Siddique, H. (2013) 'British fugitive Samantha Lewthwaite wrote 'love poem' for Osama bin Laden, *The Guardian*, 22 October. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2013/oct/22/samantha-lewthwaite-love-poem-osama-bin-laden (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Sjoberg, L., Cooke, G. D. and Reiter Neal, S. (2011) 'Introduction. Women, Gender and Terrorism', in L. Sjoberg and C. E. Gentry (eds) *Women, Gender, and Terrorism*. Athens, Georgia: University of Georgia Press, pp. 1-25.

Sjoberg, L. and Gentry, C. (2007) *Mothers, Monsters, Whores: Women's Violence in Global Politics*. London: Zed Books.

Smith, A. M. (2015) 'Subjectivity and Subjectivation' in Disch, L. and Hawkesworth, M. (eds.) *The Oxford Handbook of Feminist Theory*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 955-972.

Smith, N. and Gadher, D. (2012) 'Snaps show family life of 'terror mother", *The Sunday Times*, 11 March. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/fee054b1-75f5-46b1-bb1a-2a8387bbc6e7 (Accessed 11 March 2025).

Spencer, A. N. (2016) 'The Hidden Face of Terrorism: An Analysis of the Women in Islamic State', *Journal of Strategic Security*, 9(3), Special Issue: Emerging Threats, pp. 74-98.

Starkey, J. and Brown, D. (2013) 'White Widow's poem of love for bin Laden', *The Times*, 22 October. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/f2672b3f-5445-4107-9261-f63970f09e3a (Accessed 11 March 2025).

Termeer, A. and Duyvesteyn, I. (2022) 'The inclusion of women in jihad: gendered practices of legitimation in Islamic State recruitment propaganda', *Critical Studies on Terrorism*, 15(2), pp. 463-483.

The Times (2012a) 'I just wanted to marry a Muslim and settle down', 29 February. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/6dd0efa6-3641-4069-b224-8965a3da1eec (Accessed 11 March 2025).

The Times (2012b) '7/7 bomber's widow was on bus 'with man wearing burka', 8 March. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/0603896f-f8bb-4ede-9a71-e712b12b8444 (Accessed 11 March 2025).

United Nations Security Council Counter-Terrorism Committee Executive Directorate (CTED). (2019) *Gender dimensions of the response to returning foreign terrorist fighters:* research perspectives. CTED Trends Report, February. Available at:

https://www.un.org/securitycouncil/ctc/sites/www.un.org.securitycouncil.ctc/files/files/documents/2021/Jan/feb 2019 cted trends report.pdf (Accessed: 2 March 2025).

van Dijk, T. A. (2015) 'Critical Discourse Analysis', in D. Tannen, H.E. Hamilton and D. Schiffrin (eds) *The Handbook of Discourse Analysis*. 2nd edn. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, pp. 466-485.

White, J. (2020) 'Terrorism and the Mass Media', *RUSI Occasional Paper*, May, London: Royal United Services Institute for Defence and Security Studies.

Appendices - News Media Data Set:

Addley, E. and Hirsch, A. (2013) "White widow": Interpol arrest warrant issued for Samantha Lewthwaite, *The Guardian*, 27 September.

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2013/sep/26/interpol-arrest-warrant-samantha-lewthwaite-white-widow (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Amoore, M. and Gadher, D. (2013) 'White Widow's new link with al Qaeda', *The Sunday Times*, 27 October. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/6e832421-9901-4b2a-bd72-f81704739e29 (Accessed 11 March 2025).

Badshah, N. (2015) 'British schoolgirl now married to Australian Isis fighter', *The Times*, 12 July. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/5aa61be5-ea4b-4e08-a18b-959d2dbf9035 (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Bagenal, F. (2012) 'Briton gave up July 7 widow', *The Sunday Times*, 13 May. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/21637fbc-61fd-4386-b272-d0b572be2e58 (Accessed 11 March 2025).

Baker, J. and Hamilton, F. (2016) 'Isis schoolgirl 'encouraged to stay in Syria by friend", *The Times*, 13 August. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/f297c790-60ac-11e6-bfbd-4ddc42c97769 (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Booth, J. (2015) 'Families of runaway Syria girls blame police', *The Times*, 10 March. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/fc406e01-f7ef-4112-8604-f11b3502d916 (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Brown, D. (2013) "50 Britons' involved in Somali terror network', *The Times*, 5 October. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/3530f0d6-cecb-4a71-aae6-458d1e5edeac (Accessed 11 March 2025).

Clarke-Billings, L. (2015) 'Families of runaway Syria schoolgirls plead for them to come home', *The Times*, 21 February. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/03d1fe5b-f09e-49b2-a75a-c9b04c70d10a (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Dodd, V. (2013) 'Trial of associate of British 'white widow' linked to Nairobi attack begins', *The Guardian*, 25 September. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2013/sep/24/terror-trial-mombasa-samantha-lewtheaite-nairobi-attack (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Dodd, V. (2015) 'London schoolgirls' Syria checklist found in bedroom', *The Guardian*, 9 March. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/mar/09/london-schoolgirls-syria-journey-checklist-found-in-bedroom (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Dodd, V. (2016) 'Four London schoolgirls who left UK for Syria marred men approved by Isis', *The Guardian*, 20 January. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2016/jan/19/four-london-schoolgirls-who-left-uk-for-syria-married-men-approved-by-isis (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Dodd, V. and agencies. (2013) "White widow": Samantha Lewthwaite linked to Nairobi attack", *The Guardian*, 25 September. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2013/sep/24/kenya-mall-siege-british-samantha-lewthwaite (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Dodd, V. and Gani, A. (2015) 'Police failed us, say families of girls feared to have gone to Syria', *The Guardian*, 7 March. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2015/mar/06/syria-bound-girls-hid-police-letter-families (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Dodd, V. and Khomami, N. (2015) 'Two Bethnal Green schoolgirls 'now married to Isis men' in Syria', *The Guardian*, 4 July. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/jul/04/two-bethnal-green-schoolgirls-now-married-isis-men-syria (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Dodd, V., Topping, A. and Gani, A. (2015) 'Missing girls lured by Isis won't face terrorism charges, says Met chief', *The Guardian*, 11 March. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2015/mar/10/missing-girls-stole-family-jewellery-syria-trip-police (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Elgot, J. (2015) 'Bethnal Green schoolgirl marries Australian Isis video recruiter, reports say', *The Guardian*, 13 July. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/jul/12/bethnal-green-schoolgirl-marries-isis-video-recruiter-reports-australian-abdullah-elmir-syria (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Elks, S. (2015a) 'Syria runaways 'failed' by UK security', *The Times*, 22 February. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/1c2d8916-4f91-4b89-8469-8394ff7f3608 (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Elks, S. (2015b) 'CCTV shows runaway schoolgirls at bus station en route to Syria', *The Times*, 1 March. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/993e8be9-d448-4d4e-b719-6b6d1a9ef345 (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Ellen, B. (2016) 'Pointless death of this brainwashed teenage bride', *The Guardian*, 14 August. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2016/aug/13/kadiza-sultana-isis-death (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Gadher, D. (2015a) 'Groomed for jihad', *The Sunday Times*, 22 February. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/dcaa7c29-894a-443b-94eb-8e18d3bdfbc3 (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Gadher, D. (2015b) 'British bungle let the 'White Widow' go free', *The Sunday Times*, 8 March. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/c42e9fb6-c497-4d15-a7a9-a39584861e69 (Accessed 11 March 2025).

Gadher, D. (2015c) 'Beheadings and a taste for chips: the life of a British jihadist bride', *The Sunday Times*, 26 April. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/fed395c1-202d-4443-b54f-7528fdcda11f (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Gadher, D. and Amoore, M. (2013) 'White Widow's recipe for a happy home', *The Sunday Times*, 1 December. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/913bd7ba-70e2-47ef-9c48-d7b59f8448a1 (Accessed 11 March 2025).

Gadher, D. and Bagenal, F. (2012) '7/7 widow linked to Eton bomb plot', *The Sunday Times*, 15 July. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/4494e553-9797-43e5-b6f9-59bb5adab7f5 (Accessed 11 March 2025).

Gadher, D. and Callaghan, L. (2017) 'Families fear worst for Bethnal Green schoolgirls', *The Sunday Times*, 6 August. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/03c1d1bc-7a12-11e7-ac37-79a4ec05ba4a (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Gadher, D., Henry, R., Kerbaj, R. and Griffiths, S. (2015) 'Sister of jihadist bride: Our mum needs you home', *The Sunday Times*, 22 February. Available at:

https://www.thetimes.com/article/9f19f3ac-b3d1-4a65-ace1-d1006ecfea10 (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Gibbons, K. (2013) 'Tips on being a model wide, by bomber's widow', *The Times*, 2 December. https://www.thetimes.com/article/84be2242-ce0d-44a8-acdd-7f698a47d600 (Accessed 11 March 2025).

Gilham, J. (2013) "White widow": public enemy No 1", *The Guardian*, 25 September. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2013/sep/25/white-widow-samantha-lewthwaite (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Grierson, J. (2016) 'Radicalised girl's death should prompt review of Prevent, says MP', *The Guardian*, 12 August. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2016/aug/12/radicalised-girl-kadiza-sultana-death-should-prompt-review-of-prevent-says-mp (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Grierson, J. and Dodd, V. (2016) 'British girl believed killed in Syria 'was too scared to flee Isis'', *The Guardian*, 13 August. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2016/aug/12/british-girl-believed-killed-in-syria-was-too-scared-to-flee-isis (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Halliday, J. (2015) 'Syria-bound missing schoolgirl's father urges her not to fall into clutches of Isis', *The Guardian*, 23 February. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/feb/22/uk-counter-terror-officials-criticised-syria-bound-london-schoolgirls (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Halliday, J. and Dodd, V. (2015) 'Theresa May refuses to be drawn on Isis runaways' right to return to UK', *The Guardian*, 13 May. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2015/may/13/theresa-may-refuses-to-be-drawn-on-isis-runaways-right-to-return-to-uk (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Halliday, J., Gani, A. and Dodd, V. (2015) 'UK police launch hunt for London schoolgirls feared to have fled to Syria', *The Guardian*, 21 February. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/feb/20/fears-london-schoolgirls-isis-syria (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Halliday, J., Gani, A., Dodd, V. and Johnston, C. (2015) "Syria-bound schoolgirls: East London mosque calls for worshippers' help", *The Guardian*, 22 February. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2015/feb/21/east-london-mosque-calls-worshippers-help-trace-schoolgirls-syria (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Hamilton, F. (2013) 'Terror group praises 'white widow", *The Times*, 24 September.

Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/0556f87e-8c6a-4e71-9285-7536765f6098
(Accessed 11 March 2025).

Hamilton, F. (2015a) 'Runaway girls are already in Syria, police believe', *The Times*, 25 February. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/c3470c03-f723-4ee0-a4d9-d350579c90d7 (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Hamilton, F. (2015b) 'Junk food and beheadings: runaway schoolgirl tweets about life with Isis', *The Times*, 27 April. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/29a56c17-692c-4d8d-ac51-22c96fcfb4a3 (Accessed 12 March).

Hamilton, F. and Baker, J. (2015) 'We're not coming back, insist runaways in Syria', *The Times*, 29 May. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/6a438d58-88ff-4705-8fc6-05360aae5eb6 (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Hamilton, F. and Baker, J. (2016) 'Schoolgirl who joined Isis is 'killed by airstrike", *The Times*, 12 August. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/452059de-6006-11e6-a879-604d7c629235 (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Hamilton, F. and Ford, R. (2015) 'Runaway girls 'stole family jewellery' to fund Syria trip', *The Times*, 11 March. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/a0b4452e-c92c-46b9-8837-9051b93a9893 (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Hamilton, F. and Simpson, J. (2015a) 'Runaway schoolgirls were on police radar two months ago', *The Times*, 21 February. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/726dc430-bc60-458c-96d1-784e89a3d4e6 (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Hamilton, F. and Simpson, J. (2015b) 'Airline is facing new questions about runaway schoolgirls', *The Times*, 24 February. Available at:

https://www.thetimes.com/article/d903909b-167b-4a5c-b94d-5fe872897811 (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Haynes, D., Woolcock, N., Pitel, L. and O'Neill, S. (2015) 'Families plead for runaway girls to return', *The Times*, 23 February. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/9547012b-f533-4d8c-951f-c0eff546b84c (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Henley, J. and Dodd, V. (2016) 'Kadiza Sultana: London schoolgirl who joined Isis believed killed in Syria airstrike', *The Guardian*, 12 August. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2016/aug/11/london-schoolgirl-kadiza-sultana-who-joined-isis-believed-killed-in-syria-airstrike (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Hirsh, A. (2013a) 'Westgate mall siege: hostage crisis over, say Kenyan officials', *The Guardian*, 24 September. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2013/sep/24/kenya-mall-hostage-westgate-nairobi (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Hirsch, A. (2013b) 'From Zulu to the 'White Widow', why do all African stories need a white face?', *The Guardian*, 5 October. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2013/oct/04/zulu-white-widow-samantha-lewthwaite-westgate-mall (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Laville, S. and Ni Chonghaile, C. (2012) '7/7 bomber's widow sought over Kenya terror plot', *The Guardian*, 29 February. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2012/feb/29/bombers-widow-sought-kenya-terror-plot (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Lea, R., Woolcock, N. and Dathan, M. (2015) 'Girls 'met at Syria border by jihadists'', *The Times*, 26 February. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/05383de4-ff5b-400f-a067-2497a0bdcf28 (Accessed 12 March).

MacAskill, E. (2016) 'Tally of Britons joining Isis and similar groups abroad grown to 850', *The Guardian*, 12 August. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2016/aug/11/britons-joining-isis-grown-to-850-100-killed-syria-khadiza-sultana (Accessed 9 March 2025).

McVeigh, T. and agencies. (2015) 'Syria-bound girls urged to come home by families', *The Guardian*, 22 February. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/feb/21/syria-girl-family-islamic-state (Accessed 9 March 2025).

McVeigh, T. and Reidy, T. (2015) 'Families who fear Isis is targeting their children urged to lock up their passports', *The Guardian*, 22 February. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/society/2015/feb/21/syria-isis-uk-families-warned-lock-up-passports-daughters (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Morris, J. (2015) 'Runaway schoolgirls 'married in Isis ceremonies'', *The Times*, 4 July. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/02b04f9d-13ab-402e-90d6-5eb2a8ce5520 (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Naughton, P. and Hamilton, F. (2015) 'Fears for three UK schoolgirls 'headed to Syria'', *The Times*, 20 February. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/963392df-e17d-4220-b756-bcb51717be21 (Accessed 12 March 2025).

O'Neill, S. (2013) 'Interpol warrant for 'White Widow' Samantha Lewthwaite over Kenya attack', *The Times*, 27 September. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/c0c335c4-3a5f-4d08-9232-3cdb272bb095 (Accessed 11 March 2025).

O'Neill, S. and Hamilton, F. (2013) 'Samantha Lewthwaite was interviewed after 7/7 bombings but dropped off radar', *The Times*, 26 September. Available at:

https://www.thetimes.com/travel/destinations/uk-travel/england/london-travel/samantha-lewthwaite-was-interviewed-after-7-7-bombings-but-dropped-off-radar-8gt7vdmmfd8
(Accessed 11 March 2025).

Patterson, C. (2016) 'What drives intelligent young women to become "jihadi brides"?', *The Sunday Times*, 28 August. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/e7cb4562-6877-11e6-99d8-ef908f1112d5 (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Quinn, B. (2015) 'UK schoolgirls lured to Syria by Isis 'have made contact with their families'', *The Guardian*, 28 May. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/may/28/uk-schoolgirls-lured-syria-isis-contact-

families (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Reuters (2013) 'Westgate mall attack: international teams join investigation', *The Guardian*, 26 September. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2013/sep/25/al-shabaab-westgate-mall-kenya-hostages (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Siddique, H. (2013) 'British fugitive Samantha Lewthwaite wrote 'love poem' for Osama bin Laden, *The Guardian*, 22 October. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2013/oct/22/samantha-lewthwaite-love-poem-osama-bin-laden (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Simpson, J. (2015) 'British runaways await Isis husbands after arrival in Raqqa', *The Times*, 10 March. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/567aafc6-2edf-444c-aa54-ea35a69d67d5 (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Simpson, J. and Badshah, N. (2015) 'Runaway girls' checklist for trip to join jihadists found', *The Times*, 10 March. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/81333cb0-0143-4261-bfdd-9300e4eb91dd (Accessed 12 March 2025).

Smith, N. and Gadher, D. (2012a) 'Widow of 7/7 killer linked to Al Qaeda chief', *The Sunday Times*, 4 March. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/f7ab6017-5db4-45f4-a24b-8297d371d4a5 (Accessed 11 March 2025).

Smith, N. and Gadher, D. (2012b) 'Snaps show family life of 'terror mother", *The Sunday Times*, 11 March. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/fee054b1-75f5-46b1-bb1a-2a8387bbc6e7 (Accessed 11 March 2025).

Starkey, J. (2013) 'Fugitive wife of 7/7 bomber 'planning Kenya prison break'', *The Times*, 14 March. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/aa2bee4f-8683-4b96-99c6-99271219752f (Accessed 11 March 2025).

Starkey, J. and Brown, D. (2013) 'White Widow's poem of love for bin Laden', *The Times*, 22 October. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/f2672b3f-5445-4107-9261-f63970f09e3a (Accessed 11 March 2025).

Summers, H. (2014) 'I mentored the White Widow from my jail cell', *The Sunday Times*, 29 June. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/94aff58c-22ae-442f-a1e3-41bbd5f8ef5d (Accessed 11 March 2025).

The Times (2012a) 'I just wanted to marry a Muslim and settle down', 29 February. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/6dd0efa6-3641-4069-b224-8965a3da1eec (Accessed 11 March 2025).

The Times (2012b) 'Widow of 7/7 bomber hunted in terror alert', 29 February. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/f94ca9c6-7b24-4366-b4e3-0294b6e99751 (Accessed 11 March 2025).

The Times (2012c) 'You can't hide for ever, terror suspect is told', 2 March. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/c2a9a370-66b6-43f2-855e-6409a2fc9fce (Accessed 11 March 2025).

The Times (2012d) 'Inside the 7/7 widow's African lair', 3 March. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/0e74fa05-ca81-49b6-9a97-96cf45c9d30e (Accessed 11 March 2025).

The Times (2012e) 'Police photo increases bomb plot suspicion on woman with 7/7 link', 5 March. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/182271f8-6e70-43c7-9532-55a51cc5c4ae (Accessed 11 March 2025).

The Times (2012f) '7/7 bomber's widow will not escape, say Kenyan police', 6 March.

Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/e8d795fe-e964-4195-b5e8-4182edb161ff
(Accessed 11 March 2025).

The Times (2012g) '7/7 bomber's widow is 'funded by Yemen al Qaeda', 7 March. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/b158c25f-3489-455d-8841-4a3ec3361a0f (Accessed 11 March 2025).

The Times (2012h) '7/7 bomber's widow was on bus 'with man wearing burka', 8 March. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/0603896f-f8bb-4ede-9a71-e712b12b8444 (Accessed 11 March 2025).

Topping, A. and agencies. (2015) 'Education secretary writes to school of girls believed to have fled to Syria', *The Guardian*, 26 February. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/feb/25/education-secretary-nicky-morgan-syria-bethnal-green-academy (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Topping, A. and Gani, A. (2025) 'School reaction to 'Syria-bound' schoolgirls: 'it doesn't make sense', *The Guardian*, 23 February. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/feb/23/schools-reaction-syria-bound-schoolgirls-amira-abase-shamina-begum-kadiza-sultana (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Topping, A., Gani, A. and Walker, P. (2015) "Syria-bound teenagers: airlines must do more, says David Cameron", *The Guardian*, 24 February. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/feb/23/police-interviewed-missing-teenagers-december-london-school (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Williams, Z. (2014) 'The radicalisation of Samantha Lewthwaite, the Aylesbury schoolgirl who became 'the white widow'', *The Guardian*, 28 June. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2014/jun/27/what-radicalised-samantha-lewthwaite-77-london-bombings (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Wishart, A. (2013) 'Kenya mall attack: 'white widow' reports opt for colour rather than fact', *The Guardian*, 7 October. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/media/2013/oct/06/kenya-mall-attack-white-widow-press (Accessed 9 March 2025).

Woolf, M., Jaber, H. and Hookham, M. (2015) 'Airline clampdown on jihadist brides', *The Sunday Times*, 8 March. Available at: https://www.thetimes.com/article/567516fb-76d9-4e6c-bd33-18622ba048f1 (Accessed 12 March 2025).